HIV-1 MUTAGENESIS DURING ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPY: IMPLICATIONS FOR SUCCESSFUL DRUG TREATMENT

Renxiang Chen¹, Miguel E. Quinones-Mateu³, and Louis M. Mansky^{1,2}

¹ Ohio State University Biochemistry Graduate Program, Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio 43210, ² Institute for Molecular Virology, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55455, ³Department of Virology, Lerner Research Institute, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH 44195

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Antiretroviral drugs and increased HIV-1 mutagenesis
- 4. Impact of salvage therapy on HIV-1 mutagenesis
- 5. Therapeutic application of increased HIV-1 mutagenesis
- 6. *HIV-1 drug resistance and viral fitness*
- 7. Fitness of reverse transcriptase inhibitor (RTI)-resistant HIV variants

8. Viral fitness and its potential influence on error catastrophe

9. Antimicrobial drug resistance and increased pathogen mutation rates

10. Summary

11. Acknowledgements

12. References

1. ABSTRACT

The evolution of antiretroviral drug resistance is a major problem in the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection. Drug therapy failure is associated with accumulation of mutations and results in the development of drug resistance. Drugs targeted against reverse transcriptase (RT) as well as drug-resistant RT have been shown to increase HIV-1 mutation frequencies. Furthermore, combinations of drug and drug-resistant RT can increase virus mutation frequencies in a multiplicative manner. The evolution of drug resistance also alters virus fitness. The correlation of increased HIV-1 mutation rates with the evolution of antiretroviral drug resistance indicates that drug failure could increase the likelihood of further resistance evolving from subsequent drug regimens. These observations parallel studies from microbial systems that provide evidence for a correlation between drug resistance development and increased pathogen mutation rates. Although increased mutant frequencies may be detrimental to effective therapy, the lethal mutagenesis of the HIV-1 genome may provide a new means for antiretroviral therapy.

2. INTRODUCTION

Drug therapy to HIV infection is typically done with combination therapy that consists of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI's), non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTI's) and protease inhibitors (PI's), which has dramatically reduced the rate of HIV-1 and AIDS-related morbidity and mortality. The lack of compliance to drug administration may result in suboptimal therapy, which can lead to drug resistance. Drug resistance limits the clinical benefit of drug treatment.

The HIV-1 mutation rate is high (i.e., 4×10^{-5} mutations per target bp per replication cycle, which correlates to about one mutation in every 3 new genomes produced) and likely aids in the rapid development of drug resistance during suboptimal therapy (1). Thus, viral genomes with each possible mutation as well as many with double mutations are likely generated each day, allowing for the rapid selection and fixation of mutations that confer drug resistance. Drug-resistant virus can reside in latently infected cells, which further complicates subsequent drug treatment regimes during initial and salvage therapy. The accumulation of drug-resistance mutations correlates with reduced drug susceptibility and potency of antiretroviral therapy (ART). The continued replication in the presence of drug can select for even greater levels of resistance and typically leads to cross-resistance to drugs of the same class. Transmission of HIV-1 with reduced susceptibility to antiretroviral drugs may compromise the efficacy of drug therapy (2).

3. ANTIRETROVIRAL DRUGS AND INCREASED HIV-1 MUTAGENESIS

The ability of drugs to influence retrovirus mutation rates was first observed over 10 years ago, and can be influenced by alteration of dNTP pools (3-5). The impact of drugs on HIV-1 mutation rates was first studied by testing how the NRTI's 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine (AZT) and (-) 2', 3'-dideoxy-3'-thiacytidine (3TC), as well as AZT- and 3TC-conferring resistance mutations, influence the HIV-1 mutation rate (6). These analyses used the *lacZ* lpha peptide gene as a mutation target, which has been used in previous mutation rate studies of HIV-1. AZT increased the HIV-1 mutation rate by 7.6-fold in a

Drug	Drug-resistant	Mutant	
	reverse transcriptase	frequency	
	(RT)	increase	
AZT	wt RT	7.6	
3TC	wt RT	3.4	
Hydroxyurea	wt RT	4.5	
Thymidine	wt RT	7.0	
Thioguanine	wt RT	4.0	
ddI	wt RT	6.0	
-	AZT-resistant RT	4.3	
-	3TC-resistant RT	1.0	
AZT	AZT-resistant RT	24.0	
3TC	AZT-resistant RT	13.6	
AZT/3TC	AZT-3TC-dual-	22.5	
	resistant RT		
Hydroxyurea	AZT-resistant RT	21.8	
Thymidine	AZT-resistant RT	16.7	

 Table 1. Drugs and drug-resistant reverse transcriptases

 that have been shown to increase HIV-1 mutant frequencies

single round of replication, while 3TC increased the virus mutation rate by 3.4-fold (Table 1). AZT-resistant RT was also found to influence the mutation rate. In particular, HIV-1 replication with AZT-resistant RTs increased the mutation rate by as much as 4.3-fold, while replication of HIV-1 with a 3TC-resistant RT had no significant effect on the mutation rate. It was observed that only high-level, AZT-resistant RT variants could influence the *in vivo* mutation rate (i.e., those containing the mutations M41L/T215Y and M41L/D67N/K70R/T215Y).

Further studies of drug resistant RTs has indicated that other amino acid residues in HIV RT associated with drug resistance can increase virus mutant frequencies when mutated. One example is the Y501F RT mutant, which leads to a 4-fold increase in virus mutant frequencies (7). The Y501 residue is located in the RNase H primer grip region of HIV RT and is associated with resistance to N-(4-*tert*-Butylbenzoyl)-2hydroxynaphthaldehyde hydrazone (BBNH), which is a potent inhibitor of RNase H activity (8).

Recent studies with other NRTI's (i.e., ddI, stavudine and abacavir) indicate that NRTI drug treatment may generally lead to increased virus mutant frequencies during HIV-1 replication (R. Chen and L.M. Mansky, unpublished observations) (9). How NRTI's increase HIV-1 mutant frequencies is presently not known, but likely involves a similar mechanism. This is supported by the observation that virus mutant frequencies increase in an additive manner during virus replication in the presence of two NRTI's (i.e., AZT and 3TC, AZT and ddI, and 3TC and ddI) (9).

These observations suggest that when virus replication occurs in the presence of suboptimal concentrations of drug, drug-resistant virus is selected for and that replication of drug-resistant virus in the presence of drug could further increase the virus mutation rate. To test this hypothesis, the combined effects of drug and drugresistant virus were analyzed (10). It was found that the replication of AZT-resistant HIV-1 in the presence of AZT led to a multiplicative 24-fold increase in the virus mutant frequency to that observed with wild-type virus in the absence of drug (Table 1). This indicates that when drug failure occurs due to the evolution of drug resistance, replication of the drug-resistant virus in the presence of AZT significantly increases HIV-1 mutagenesis. In addition, it was observed that replication of a AZT/3TC dual-resistant virus in the presence of AZT and 3TC also led to a multiplicative 22.5-fold increase in mutant frequencies (Table 1). Thus, each of these drugs tested acted together with drug-resistant RT and increased virus mutant frequencies.

4. IMPACT OF SALVAGE THERAPY ON HIV-1 MUTAGENESIS

When HIV-infected individuals fail potent ART due to the development of drug resistance, salvage therapy is necessary. Drug resistance may occur from a lack of medication compliance or drug discontinuation. Therapy failure can be associated with poor tolerability, persistence of virus in immunological privileged sites, lack of drug potency, and low drug plasma levels. The selection of salvage therapy requires an analysis of the resistance mutations that led to therapy failure, as well as suppressed resistance mutations that could emerge under new therapy. Drug resistance mutations that confer cross resistance to other drugs also needs to be analyzed.

Interestingly, different drugs used in conjunction with the AZT-resistant virus led to a similar multiplicative increase in virus mutant frequencies (10). This indicates that when new drugs are added in drug therapy regimens they could also act with the drug-resistant virus to further increase virus mutant frequencies even though the drug-resistance phenotype is associated with another drug. For example, 3TC increased mutant frequencies of AZT-resistant virus to 13.6fold compared to that with wild-type virus in the absence of drug (Table 1). Hydroxyurea, a well-documented drug used in HIV-1 treatment, is known to alter intracellular dNTP pools by inhibiting ribonucleotide reductase and results in a depletion of all dNTPs. AZT-resistant HIV-1 replication in the presence of hydroxyurea resulted in a 21.8-fold increase in mutant frequencies compared to that observed in the absence of drug (Table 1). Like hydroxyurea, thymidine has also been shown to alter intracellular dNTP pools and in addition has been shown to increase retrovirus mutation rates. AZT-resistant HIV-1 replication in the presence of thymidine increased mutant frequencies by 16.7 fold (Table 1). Thioguanine (an antileukemic agent that has been reported to inhibit RNase H activity) has been shown to increase HIV-1 mutant frequencies by 4-fold and to significantly alter mutant frequencies during virus replication with RTs containing mutations not associated with the drug (7). These data suggest that subsequent therapies could lead to increased HIV-1 mutagenesis even though the drug-resistant phenotype is not directed against the new drug(s) used in the drug therapy regimen.

5. THERAPEUTIC APPLICATION OF INCREASED HIV-1 MUTAGENESIS

The data discussed above predict that when drug failure occurs during NRTI HIV-1 chemotherapy, there is



Figure 1. Error catastrophe and lethal mutagenesis.

an increased likelihood of further resistance evolving from subsequent drug regimens. As described below for antibiotic resistance with bacteria, mutators could lead to a shift in drug resistance from low level resistance to high level resistance and extend the spectrum of resistance. In addition, mutators could rapidly accumulate compensatory mutations, which increase the replicative capacity of the virus. In both instances, mutators can be considered to be a threat to successful drug therapy. Assays for mutators could potentially be used as an indicator for assessing the likelihood of therapeutic failure. Such strategies need to be tested for their utility.

An intentional increase in mutation rate has been speculated as a rational approach for antiviral treatment of RNA virus infections (11). RNA viruses have high mutation rates and are particularly vulnerable to increases in mutation rate that could extinguish virus replication by error catastrophe (Figure 1). Ribavirin, a ribonucleoside analog, incorporates into poliovirus RNA and was found to be mutagenic, with its antiviral activity correlating with its mutagenic activity (12). The inhibition of RNA virus replication with ribavirin has been associated with error catastrophe for Hantaan virus and hepatitis C virus (13, 14), but not with lymphocytic choriomenigitis virus (LCMV) (15).

Promutagenic nucleoside analogs, which are incorporated into the viral genome during nucleic acid replication and result in a progressive accumulation of mutations that would ultimately lead to a drastic reduction in virus replication and fitness, have been used to extinguish HIV-1 replication (16). Given that the majority of mutations are deleterious, selection against such variants would reduce virus yield within a single cycle of replication and allow the maintenance of some significant level of virus fitness within the population. Based upon the analysis of HIV-1 mutation rates, an approximate 30-fold increase in mutation rate would be necessary for extinguishing infectious virus replication (10). The success of eliminating HIV-1 replication by this approach (called lethal mutagenesis or error catastrophe), has yet to be tested clinically. However, NRTI's can also cause mutagenesis. The systematic analysis of NRTI's could identify NRTI combinations that increase HIV mutagenesis and approach lethal mutagenesis.

The HIV-1 Vif protein is essential for viral replication in non-permissive cells such as primary T cells and macrophages as well as some CD4+ transformed T cell lines. Recently, a cellular protein, CEM 15 (also known as APOBEC3G) was identified as a specific antiviral factor in nonpermissive cells whose antiviral activity was overcome by the presence of Vif (17). APOBEC3G is a member of the family of RNA editing enzymes that deaminate cytosine residues to uracil in DNA or mRNA (18). The members of this family (e.g., activation-induced deaminase, AID, APOBEC1, and APOBEC3G) may function as a DNA mutator in E. coli (19). When Avif-viruses are produced from cells expressing APOBEC3G contain G-to-A hypermutations in newly synthesized plus-strand of viral DNA, which suggests an activity of APOBEC3G that results in the deamination of cytosines to uracils in minusstrand DNA during reverse transcription. Furthermore, Vif expression in virus producer cells prevented the accumulation of G-to-A mutations, suggesting that APOBEC3G is the critical component of innate defense mechanism for HIV-1 by causing instability of incoming nascent viral reverse transcripts or by inducing lethal mutagenesis (20-23).

Vif can complex with APOBEC3G, and this interaction can prevent the encapsidation of ABOBEC3G into HIV-1 particles (24). However, HIV-1 Vif does not inhibit the incorporation of mouse or African green monkey (AGM) APOBEC3Gs into HIV-1 virions and the antiviral activity of these APOBEC3Gs was maintained (25). This indicates that the mouse and AGM APOBEC3Gs can be potent inhibitors of HIV-1 replication, even in the presence of Vif. Therapeutic intervention could be envisioned by the development of a new class of antiviral drugs that exploit the properties of APOBEC3G virion incorporation to induce viral DNA damage and/or HIV-1 lethal mutagenesis. Cytosine deamination and the creation of uracil residues during minus-strand DNA synthesis can block virus replication in at least three different ways. First, the presence of uracil can destabilize DNA, causing it to degrade before integration. Second, uracils in the minusstrand DNA can impair the initiation of plus-strand DNA synthesis during reverse transcription (26). Third, the deamination of many cytosines in minus-strand DNA will cause G-to-A substitutions in plus-strand of viral DNA that results in amino-acid changes and the aberrant introduction of stop codons in viral proteins which will reduce viral fitness. In summary, the use of APOBEC3G by the cell as an innate immune response to HIV-1 infection may lead to the development of a novel class of antiretroviral drugs.

6. HIV DRUG RESISTANCE AND VIRAL FITNESS

Studies on HIV-1 fitness of drug-resistant mutants under different selective pressures have led to a better understanding of emergence of specific drug resistance mutations during therapy, as well as risk/benefit of these mutations for HIV-infected individuals. Fitness is a parameter defining the replicative adaptation of an organism to its environment (reviewed in (27)), and survival of the fittest is the concept that drives evolution in a complex population. For example, in HIV quasispecies each clone has a fitness value, representative of those viral properties undergoing selection in that particular environment. Therefore, positive selection implies that one or more members of the quasispecies are better suited to a given environment while negative selection eliminates unfit variants (27).

The current goal of any antiretroviral therapy regimen is to maintain low-to-undetectable plasma HIV-RNA levels, which minimizes the possible emergence of drug resistant HIV-1 variants and prevents progression to AIDS (28). In the absence of antiretroviral therapy, strains containing drug-resistance mutations have a reduced fitness compared to the wild-type (wt) quasispecies within the population (29). Therefore, selective pressure in the form of drug therapy leads to selection and competition of several drug-resistant variants within the viral quasispecies, which will pass through the drug-induced bottleneck and initiate a new quasispecies distribution that will be governed again by replication efficiency (29, 30).

During antiretroviral therapy two types of mutations are associated with drug resistance and respective changes in viral fitness. An initial decrease in fitness coincides with the appearance of primary substitutions conferring direct drug resistance. Continued drug pressure allows the selection of secondary or compensatory mutations to restore the enzymatic activity of the drug-targeted resistant enzyme (protease, PR or reverse transcriptase, RT) leading to a rebound in fitness, similar if not greater than the fitness of the quasispecies prior to treatment (28, 31, 32). The appearance of specific mutations is often highly dependent on the baseline sequence and the sequential selection of "de novo" compensatory mutations that contribute to viral fitness (33-35). Finally, it is important to note that, in the human host, the most fit wild-type HIV-1 sequence differs between patients due to variations in host genetics, immune response, and several viral factors (32, 36).

7. FITNESS OF REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE INHIBITOR (RTI)-RESISTANT HIV VARIANTS

Although amino acid changes conferring RTIresistance do not appear to reduce viral fitness to the same extent as PI-resistant mutations (31, 32), multiple studies have explored how RTI-resistant mutations affect HIV-1 replication capacity (reviewed in (32, 36, 37)). NRTIs were the first class of antiretrovirals to be approved for anti-HIV-1 therapy (38). Thus, it is not surprising that some of the first studies showing the effect of drug-resistance mutations on viral replication fitness were related to AZT (39). A stepwise accumulation of AZT resistance mutations (70R, 215Y, and 41L) during in vitro selection was similar to that observed in vivo (40). Interestingly, ordered accumulation of resistant variants was also predictive of relative fitness (i.e., wt > $70R \gg 215Y =$ 41L/215Y > 41L). Similarly, lamivudine (3TC)-resistant viruses, harboring the 184V mutation, appear to have diminished RT processivity and reduced replication capacity (41, 42).

Resistance mutations associated to NNRTIs, noncompetitive inhibitors that bind to a hydrophobic pocket

adjacent to the polymerase active site of RT (43), results in a slight decrease in RT polymerase activities relative to RNase H activity of the enzyme (44, 45). However, the viral replicative capacity of NNRTI-resistant viruses has not been extensively studied. Available data suggest that single-point mutations such as 103N or 181C, selected during NNRTI treatment, have limited effects on viral fitness but confer high level resistance and persist in the absence of drug pressure. Unlike other antiretroviral drugs, the genetic barrier to NNRTI resistance is minimal and is found at high frequencies in the HIV-1 quasispecies in the absence of therapy. Interestingly, related lentiviral polymerases (e.g., HIV-1 group O and HIV-2) sharing conserved structural RT domains are resistant to NNRTIs (37, 46, 47). Most HIV-1 group O isolates are intrinsically resistant to NNRTIs due to the presence of three amino acid substitutions (i.e., 98G, 179E, and 181C) in RT (37), which obviously do not affect the wild-type fitness.

8. VIRAL FITNESS AND ITS POTENTIAL INFLUENCE ON ERROR CATASTROPHE

There is little information on the effects of viral load, viral fitness, and the types/numbers of mutations associated with a loss of viral infectivity of RNA viruses related to increased mutagenesis. VSV fitness gain during population passages in cell culture was severely limited by the presence of mutagenic agents (48). Using FMDV as a model, both low viral load and low viral fitness contributed to FMDV extinction in the presence of the mutagenic base analogs FU and AZC (49, 50). In the case of HIV-1, drug treatment often led to a decrease in viral load, while selection of drug resistant HIV-1 commonly decreased viral During antiretroviral therapy this initial fitness (51). decrease in fitness coincides with the appearance of primary substitutions conferring direct drug resistance (51). In addition, previous studies have suggested that both reverse transcriptase inhibitors (e.g., AZT) and AZTresistant viruses can increase the mutation rate of HIV-1 (6) and feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) (52). Progressive accumulation of mutations throughout the HIV-1 genome, some of which would diminish viral replication and fitness, may eventually lead to exceed the error threshold for maintenance of the viral quasispecies, resulting in viral Thus, it seems plausible that HIV-1 extinction quasispecies would be more susceptible to extinction by lethal mutagenesis at low viral loads and impaired viral fitness.

9. ANTIMICROBIAL DRUG RESISTANCE AND INCREASED PATHOGEN MUTATION RATES

There is a growing body of literature indicating that mutator alleles are selected for in microbial populations, particularly in response to environmental stress (53, 54). For instance, the emergence of antimicrobial resistance during drug therapy can increase the likelihood of selection for mutator alleles, as well as increase the probability of failure of subsequent drug therapies (55, 56) (Table 2). The generation of drug resistance depends on the rate of emergence of resistant mutants which is defined by the mutation rate. In bacteria,

Table 2.	Examples	of antimicrobial	resistance	associated		
with increased pathogen mutation rates						

Example	Drug Resistance	Reference
E.coli	Rifampin	62
E.coli	Streptomycin	60
E. coli	Flouroquinolone	71
S. aureus	Vancomycin	72
S. pneumoniae	Cefotaxime	61
P.aeruginosa	Rifampicin	57
H. pylori	Rifampicin	73

 Table 3.
 Enzyme-encoding genes that can act as mutator alleles

1. LILYINGS that protect Divis nom various Divis	1.	Enzymes	that	protect	DNA	from	various	DN.	A
--	----	---------	------	---------	-----	------	---------	-----	---

damaging agents

2. Enzymes that degrades modified nucleotides

3. DNA polymerases

4. Post replicative methyl-directed mismatch repair

enzymes

there are many examples indicating that antibiotic treatment not only selects for antibiotic-resistant bacteria, but also selects for mutator alleles which confer a higher mutation rate (57-65). Correlations between mutation rate and the efficacy of antimicrobial drug treatment have been recently observed (66). Error-prone polymerases and mutations of the mismatch repair system, along with mutations of enzymes that protect DNA from DNA damaging agents and enzymes that degrade modified nucleotides, have been implicated as the ultimate mechanisms responsible for these mutator phenotypes (Table 3) (57, 67-69). A recent study of Mycobacterium tuberculosis has identified a DNA polymerase, DNA polymerase E2, which is upregulated when M. tuberculosis is exposed to DNA damaging agents (i.e., UV irradiation, mitomycin C, and hydrogen peroxide) (70). A M. tuberculosis DnaE2 mutant was severely attenuated for long-term murine infections, suggesting that continued repair of DNA damage during infection is essential for survival. An implication of this work is that DnaE2 contributes to the creation of mutants that are better adjusted for survival during infection and/or antimicrobial drug therapy. This suggests that ongoing DNA repair is an essential process during persistent infection and provides a new potential target for preventing the emergence of drugresistant M. tuberculosis.

10. SUMMARY

In summary, increased HIV-1 mutation rates can be associated with the evolution of drug resistance, and this observation correlates with observations made in bacterial systems with antimicrobial drug resistance. The current management of HIV-1 infection involves combinations of NRTI, NNRTI, and protease inhibitors that are changed over time when drug resistance occurs. The transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1 along with the development of drug-resistant virus raises concerns about the efficacy of drug regimens due to the presence of mutator phenotypes. Future studies should be directed at determining the risk of these mutator phenotypes with the potential for more rapid development of HIV-1 drug resistance to NRTI's. In addition, the unintentional increase in HIV mutagenesis by NRTIs could be used for improving the efficacy of drug therapy by the rational selection NRTI combinations that either minimize the potential for HIV mutagenesis or intentionally increase HIV mutagenesis to induce (perhaps along with a mutagen or ABOBEC3G) lethal mutagenesis. It has been argued that HIV-1 population sizes in infected individuals is very large (29), but recent studies have suggested that that population sizes may be relatively small (74, 75). Small population sizes would predict that the relatively small changes in mutation rate caused by HIV-1 mutagenesis during drug therapy would influence HIV-1 evolution.

11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

L.M.M. is supported by the American Cancer Society (RPG0027801), the Campbell Foundation, and the NIH (grants GM56615, AI057735 and AI053155). M.E.Q.-M. is supported by NIH grant HL67610 and the Case Western Reserve University Center for AIDS Research (NIH grant AI36219).

12. REFERENCES

1. Mansky, L. M.& Temin, H. M.: Lower *in vivo* mutation rate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 than predicted from the fidelity of purified reverse transcriptase. *J Virol.*69, 5087-5094 (1995)

2. Garcia-Lerma, J. G., Nidtha, S., Blumoff, K., Weinstock, H.& Heneine, W.: Increased ability for selection of zidovudine resistance in a distinct class of wild-type HIV-1 from drug-naive persons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.*98, 13907-13912 (2001)

3. Pathak, V. K.& Temin, H. M.: 5-azacytidine and RNA secondary structure increase the retrovirus mutation rate. *J Virol.*66, 3093-3100 (1992)

4. Julias, J. G., Kim, T., Arnold, G.& Pathak, V. K.: The antiretrovirus drug 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine increases the retrovirus mutation rate. *J Virol*.71, 4254-4263 (1997)

5. Julias, J. G.& Pathak, V. K.: Deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate pool imbalances in vivo are associated with an increased retroviral mutation rate. *J Virol.*72, 7941-7949 (1998)

6. Mansky, L. M.& Bernard, L. C.: 3'-azido-3'deoxythymidine (AZT) and AZT-resistant reverse transcriptase can increase the in vivo mutation rate of human immunodeficiency type 1. *J Virol*.74, 9532-9539 (2000)

7. Mansky, L. M., Le Rouzic, E., Benichou, S.& Gajary, L. C.: Influence of reverse transcriptase variants, drugs, and Vpr on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mutant frequencies. *J Virol*.77, 2071-2080 (2003)

8. Arion, D., Sluis-Cremer, N., Min, K.-L., Abram, M. E., Fletcher, R. S.& Parniak, M. A.: Mutational analysis of Tyr-501 of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. *J Biol Chem*.277, 1370-1374 (2002)

9. Mansky, L. M.: Mutagenic outcome of combined antiviral drug treatment during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Virology*.307, 116-121 (2003)

10. Mansky, L. M., Pearl, D. K.& Gajary, L. C.: Combination of drugs and drug-resistant reverse transcriptase results in a multiplicative increase of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mutant frequencies. J Virol.76, 9253-9259 (2002)

11. Drake, J. W.& Holland, J. J.: Mutation rates among RNA viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.*96, 13910-13913 (1999)

12. Crotty, S., Maag, D., Arnold, J. J., Zhong, W., Lau, J. Y., Hong, Z., Andino, R.& Cameron, C. E.: The broad-spectrum antiviral ribonucleoside ribavirin is an RNA virus mutagen. *Nat Med.*6, 1375-9 (2000)

13. Severson, W. E., Schmaljohn, C. S., Javadian, A.& Jonsson, C. B.: Ribavirin causes error catastrophe during Hantaan virus replication. *J Virol*.77, 481-8 (2003)

14. Contreras, A. M., Hiasa, Y., He, W., Terella, A., Schmidt, E. V.& Chung, R. T.: Viral RNA mutations are region specific and increased by ribavirin in a full-length hepatitis C virus replication system. *J Virol*.76, 8505-17 (2002)

15. Ruiz-Jarabo, C. M., Ly, C., Domingo, E.& Torre, J. C.: Lethal mutagenesis of the prototypic arenavirus lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV). *Virology*, 308, 37-47 (2003)

16. Loeb, L. A., Essigmann, J. M., Kazazi, F., Zhang, J., Rose, K. D.& Mullins, J. I.: Lethal mutagenesis of HIV with mutagenic nucleoside analogs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.*96, 1492-1497 (1999)

17. Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D.& Malim, M. H.: Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature*.418, 646-50 (2002)

18. Jarmuz, A., Chester, A., Bayliss, J., Gisbourne, J., Dunham, I., Scott, J.& Navaratnam, N.: An anthropoidspecific locus of orphan C to U RNA-editing enzymes on chromosome 22. *Genomics*.79, 285-96 (2002)

19. Harris, R. S., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K.& Neuberger, M. S.: RNA editing enzyme APOBEC1 and some of its homologs can act as DNA mutators. *Mol Cell*.10, 1247-53 (2002)

20. Harris, R. S., Bishop, K. N., Sheehy, A. M., Craig, H. M., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., Watt, I. N., Neuberger, M. S.& Malim, M. H.: DNA deamination mediates innate immunity to retroviral infection. *Cell*.113, 803-9 (2003)

21. Lecossier, D., Bouchonnet, F., Clavel, F.& Hance, A. J.: Hypermutation of HIV-1 DNA in the absence of the Vif protein. *Science*.300, 1112 (2003)

22. Mangeat, B., Turelli, P., Caron, G., Friedli, M., Perrin, L.& Trono, D.: Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. *Nature*.424, 99-103 (2003)

23. Zhang, H., Yang, B., Pomerantz, R. J., Zhang, C., Arunachalam, S. C.& Gao, L.: The cytidine deaminase CEM15 induces hypermutation in newly synthesized HIV-1 DNA. *Nature*.424, 94-8 (2003)

24. Kao, S., Khan, M. A., Miyagi, E., Plishka, R., Buckler-White, A.& Strebel, K.: The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif protein reduces intracellular expression and inhibits packaging of APOBEC3G (CEM15), a cellular inhibitor of virus infectivity. *J Virol*.77, 11398-407 (2003)

25. Mariani, R., Chen, D., Schrofelbauer, B., Navarro, F., Konig, R., Bollman, B., Munk, C., Nymark-McMahon, H.& Landau, N. R.: Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. *Cell*.114, 21-31 (2003)

26. Klarmann, G. J., Chen, X., North, T. W.& Preston, B. D.: Incorporation of uracil into minus strand DNA affects

the specificity of plus strand synthesis initiation during lentiviral reverse transcription. *J Biol Chem*.278, 7902-9 (2003)

27. Domingo, E., Escarmis, C., Sevilla, N., Moya, A., Elena, S. F., Quer, J., Novella, I. S.& Holland, J. J.: Basic concepts in RNA virus evolution. *Faseb J*.10, 859-64 (1996)

28. Hirsch, M. S., Conway, B., D'Aquila, R. T., Johnson, V. A., Brun-Vezinet, F., Clotet, B., Demeter, L. M., Hammer, S. M., Jacobsen, D. M., Kuritzkes, D. R., Loveday, C., Mellors, J. W., Vella, S.& Richman, D. D.: Antiretroviral drug resistance testing in adults with HIV infection: implications for clinical management. International AIDS Society--USA Panel. *Jama*.279, 1984-91 (1998)

29. Coffin, J.: HIV population dynamics *in vivo*: implications for genetic variation, pathogenesis, and therapy. *Science*.267, 483-489 (1995)

30. Loveday, C.& Hill, A.: Prediction of progression to AIDS with serum HIV-1 RNA and CD4 count. *Lancet*.345, 790-1 (1995)

31. Berkhout, B.: HIV-1 evolution under pressure of protease inhibitors: climbing the stairs of viral fitness. *J Biomed Sci.*6, 298-305 (1999)

32. Clavel, F., Race, E.& Mammano, F.: HIV drug resistance and viral fitness. *Adv Pharmacol*.49, 41-66 (2000)

33. Rangel, H. R., Weber, J., Chakraborty, B., Gutierrez, A., Marotta, M. L., Mirza, M., Kiser, P., Martinez, M. A., Este, J. A.& Quinones-Mateu, M. E.: Role of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope gene in viral fitness. *J Virol.*77, 9069-73 (2003)

34. Rose, R. E., Gong, Y. F., Greytok, J. A., Bechtold, C. M., Terry, B. J., Robinson, B. S., Alam, M., Colonno, R. J.& Lin, P. F.: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral background plays a major role in development of resistance to protease inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*.93, 1648-53 (1996)

35. Precious, H. M., Gunthard, H. F., Wong, J. K., D'Aquila, R. T., Johnson, V. A., Kuritzkes, D. R., Richman, D. D.& Leigh Brown, A. J.: Multiple sites in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase associated with virological response to combination therapy. *Aids*.14, 31-6 (2000)

36. Nijhuis, M., Deeks, S.& Boucher, C.: Implications of antiretroviral resistance on viral fitness. *Curr Opin Infect Dis.*14, 23-8 (2001)

37. Quinones-Mateu, M. E., Ball, S. C.& Arts, E. J.: Role of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 group O in the AIDS pandemic. *AIDS Reviews.*2, 190-202 (2001)

38. Loveday, C.: International perspectives on antiretroviral resistance. Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor resistance. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*.26 Suppl 1, S10-24 (2001)

39. Goudsmit, J., de Ronde, A., de Rooij, E.& de Boer, R.: Broad spectrum of in vivo fitness of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subpopulations differing at reverse transcriptase codons 41 and 215. *J Virol*.71, 4479-84 (1997)

40. Harrigan, P. R., Bloor, S.& Larder, B. A.: Relative replicative fitness of zidovudine-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates in vitro. *J Virol.*72, 3773-8 (1998)

41. Back, N. K., Nijhuis, M., Keulen, W., Boucher, C. A., Oude Essink, B. O., van Kuilenburg, A. B., van Gennip, A. H.& Berkhout, B.: Reduced replication of 3TC-resistant HIV-1 variants in primary cells due to a processivity defect of the reverse transcriptase enzyme. *EMBO J.*15, 4040-4049 (1996)

42. Larder, B. A., Kemp, S. D.& Harrigan, P. R.: Potential mechanism for sustained antiretroviral efficacy of AZT-3TC combination therapy. *Science*.269, 696-699 (1995)

43. Deeks, S. G.: International perspectives on antiretroviral resistance. Nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor resistance. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*.26 Suppl 1, S25-33 (2001)

44. Gerondelis, P., Archer, R. H., Palaniappan, C., Reichman, R. C., Fay, P. J., Bambara, R. A.& Demeter, L. M.: The P236L delavirdine-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mutant is replication defective and demonstrates alterations in both RNA 5'-endand DNA 3'-end-directed RNase H activities. *J Virol.*73, 5803-13 (1999)

45. Archer, R. H., Dykes, C., Gerondelis, P., Lloyd, A., Fay, P., Reichman, R. C., Bambara, R. A.& Demeter, L. M.: Mutants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) reverse transcriptase resistant to nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors demonstrate altered rates of RNase H cleavage that correlate with HIV-1 replication fitness in cell culture. *J Virol*.74, 8390-401 (2000)

46. Quinones-Mateu, M. E., Soriano, V., Domingo, E.& Menendez-Arias, L.: Characterization of the reverse transcriptase of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 group O isolate. *Virology*.236, 364-73 (1997)

47. Descamps, D., Collin, G., Letourneur, F., Apetrei, C., Damond, F., Loussert-Ajaka, I., Simon, F., Saragosti, S.& Brun-Vezinet, F.: Susceptibility of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 group O isolates to antiretroviral agents: in vitro phenotypic and genotypic analyses. *J Virol*.71, 8893-8 (1997)

48. Lee, C. H., Gilbertson, D. L., Novella, I. S., Huerta, R., Domingo, E.& Holland, J. J.: Negative effects of chemical mutagenesis on the adaptive behavior of vesicular stomatitis virus. *J Virol*.71, 3636-40 (1997)

49. Sierra, S., Davila, M., Lowenstein, P. R.& Domingo, E.: Response of foot-and-mouth disease virus to increased mutagenesis: influence of viral load and fitness in loss of infectivity. *J Virol*.74, 8316-23 (2000)

50. Pariente, N., Sierra, S., Lowenstein, P. R.& Domingo, E.: Efficient virus extinction by combinations of a mutagen and antiviral inhibitors. *J Virol*.75, 9723-30 (2001)

51. Quinones-Mateu, M. E.& Arts, E. J.: Fitness of drug resistant HIV-1: methodology and clinical implications. *Drug Resist Updat.*5, 224-33 (2002)

52. LaCasse, R. A., Remington, K. M.& North, T. W.: The mutation frequency of feline immunodeficiency virus enhanced by 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol*.12, 26-32 (1996)

53. Sniegowski, P. D., Gerrish, P. J.& Lenski, R. E.: Evolution of high mutation rates in experimental populations of E.coli. *Nature*.387, 703-705 (1997)

54. Bjedov, I., Tenaillon, O., Gerard, B., Souza, V., Denamur, E., Radman, M., Taddei, F.& Matic, I.: Stressinduced mutagenesis in bacteria. *Science*.300, 1404-9 (2003) 55. Martinez, J. L.& Baquero, F.: Mutation frequencies and antibiotic resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.44, 1771-1777 (2000)

56. ONeill, A. J.& Chopra, I.: Use of mutator strains for characterization of novel antimicrobial agents. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.45, 1599-1600 (2001)

57. Oliver, A., Canton, R., Campo, P., Baquero, F.& Blazquez, J.: High frequency of hypermutable Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis lung infection. *Science*.288, 1251-1254 (2000)

58. Kohler, T., Michea-Hamzehpour, M., Plesiat, P., Kahr, A. L.& Pechere, J. C.: Differential selection of multidrug efflux systems by quinolones in *Psudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.41, 2540-2543 (1997)

59. Mamber, S. W., Kolek, B., Brookshire, K. W., Bonner, D. P.& Fung-Tome, J.: Activity of quinolones in the Ames Salmonella TA102 mutagenicity test and other bacterial genotoxicity assays. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.37, 213-217 (1993)

60. Ren, L., Rahman, M. S.& Humayun, M. Z.: Escherichia coli cells exposed to streptomycin display a mutator phenotype. *J Bact*.181, 1043-1044 (1999)

61. Negri, M.-F., Morosini, M.-I., Baquero, M.-R., del Campo, R., Blazquez, J.& Baquero, F.: Very low cefotaxime concentrations select for hypermutable streptococcus pneumoniae populations. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.46, 528-530 (2002)

62. Giraud, A., Matic, I., Radman, M., Fons, M.& Taddei, F.: Mutator bacteria as a risk factor in treatment of infectious diseases. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.46, 863-865 (2002)

63. Giraud, A., Radman, M., Matic, I.& Taddei, F.: The rise and fall of mutator bacteria. *Curr Opin Microbiol.*4, 582-585 (2001)

64. Tenaillon, O., Taddei, F., Radman, M.& Matic, I.: Second-order selection in bacterial evolution: selection acting on mutation and recombination rates in the course of adaptation. *Res Microbiol*.152, 11-16 (2001)

65. Prunier, A. L., Malbruny, B., Laurans, M., Brouard, J., Duhamel, J. F.& Leclercq, R.: High rate of macrolide resistance in Staphylococcus aureus strains from patients with cystic fibrosis reveals high proportions of hypermutable strains. *J Infect Dis*.187, 1709-16 (2003)

66. Gerrish, P. J.& Garcia-Lerma, J. G.: Mutation rate and the efficacy of antimicrobial drug treatment. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 3, 28-32 (2003)

67. LeClerc, J. E., Li, B., Payne, W. L.& Cebula, T. A.: High mutation frequencies among Escherichia coli and Salmonella pathogens. *Science*.274, 1208-1211 (1996)

68. Radman, M.: Enzymes of evolutionary change. *Nature*.401, 866-887 (1999)

69. Denamur, E., Lecointre, G., Darlu, P., Tenaillon, O., Acquaviva, C., Sayada, C., Sunjevaric, I., Rothstein, R., Elion, J., Taddei, F., Radman, M.& Matic, I.: Evolutionary implications of the frequent horizontal transfer of mismatch repair genes. *Cell*. 103, 711-721 (2000)

70. Boshoff, H. I., Reed, M. B., Barry, C. E.& Mizrahi, V.: DnaE2 Polymerase Contributes to In Vivo Survival and the Emergence of Drug Resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Cell*.113, 183-93 (2003)

71. Komp Lindgren, P., Karlsson, A.& Hughes, D.: Mutation rate and evolution of fluoroquinolone resistance in Escherichia coli isolates from patients with urinary tract infections. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.47, 3222-32 (2003)

72. Schaaff, F., Reipert, A.& Bierbaum, G.: An elevated mutation frequency favors development of vancomycin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.46, 3540-8 (2002)

73. Bjorkholm, B., Sjolund, M., Falk, P. G., Berg, O. G., Engstrand, L.& Andersson, D. I.: Mutation frequency and biological cost of antibiotic resistance in Helicobacter pylori. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*.98, 14607-12 (2001)

74. Frost S.D., Dumaurier M.J., Wain-Hobson S., Brown A.J. Genetic drift and within-host metapopulation dynamics of HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001 98:6975-80. (2001)

75. Shriner D., Shankarappa, R., Jensen, M.A., Nickle, D.C., Mittler, J.E., Margolick, J.B., Mullins, J.I. Influence of random genetic drift on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 env evolution during chronic infection. *Genetics* 166:1155-64. (2004)

Key Words: NRTI, NNRTI, Resistance, Lentivirus, AIDS, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Louis M. Mansky, Institute for Molecular Virology, University of Minnesota, 18-242 Moos Tower, 515 Delaware St. S.E., Minneapolis, MN 55455 USA, Tel: 612-626-5525, Fax: 612-626-5515, Email: mansky@umn.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol10.htm